1940

George K. Thompson and Frank S. Markhap,
Thompson-Markham Company v. Industrial
Commission of Utah, William M. Knerr, O. F.
McShane, Frank A. Jugler, E. A. Hodges : Brief of
Plaintiffs

Utah Supreme Court

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

Plaintiffs, under a contract with the United States of
America, Department of Interior, Bureau of Reclamation,
are engaged in the construction of a certain tunnel known

as the Alpine-Draper Tunnel, Salt Lake Aqueduct, which forms a part of the project known as the Deer Creek Project, having for its purpose the conveyance and transportation of water from the Deer Creek Reservoir in Provo River, Utah County, for use by subscribers of water in Salt Lake County. Said tunnel, when completed, will run from a point in the vicinity of Alpine, Utah County, Utah, to a point in the vicinity of Draper, Salt Lake County, Utah. Said tunnel projects through the elevation separating said points, and when completed, will have an approximate length of 15,000 feet, and will be approximately seven (7) feet in diameter. Said tunnel will be a straight bore, and will be lined and re-enforced with concrete and steel.

The tunnel is being driven for the purpose of conveying water, only; and not for the purpose of exploring for, or discovering mineral values, or to develop or operate a mine, and is not connected at all with any mining venture.

In the prosecution of said work, plaintiffs require their employees to work eight hours per day at their place of employment within the tunnel, and to change shifts at the place of employment within said tunnel, and not at the portal of said tunnel. The time consumed by the workmen in going from the portal to the place of employment, and returning therefrom to the portal, is not computed as a part of said eight hour period.

Defendants claim jurisdiction under the eight hour law, Section 49-3-2 Revised Statutes of Utah, 1933, as amended by Chapter 59, Laws of Utah, 1937, to require plaintiffs to work their employees not more than eight hours per day, said eight hours to be computed from the time said employees enter the portal of the tunnel, until they return to said portal, and claim jurisdiction to enforce said eight hour

law as interpreted by said defendants, and threaten to institute numerous prosecutions against plaintiffs unless they cease to work said employees not to exceed eight hours, from the time they enter the portal until they return to the portal of said tunnel. For the Court's convenience we set out plaintiffs' petition as "Exhibit 1" and defendants' answer as "Exhibit 2."

STATEMENT OF THE QUESTION INVOLVED

The question involved is, have plaintiffs the right to permit and require their employees to work eight hours per day at their place of employment within said tunnel, exclusive of the time required in going from the portal of said tunnel to the place of employment, and returning from the place of employment to the portal of said tunnel.

ARGUMENT

THE ALTERNATIVE WRIT OF PROHIBITION SHOULD BE MADE PERMANENT BECAUSE,

1. Section 49-3-2 Revised Statutes of Utah, 1933, as amended by Chapter 59, Laws of Utah, 1937, has no application to a tunnel such as the one being driven by plaintiffs. Said act applies only to underground mines or underground workings connected with mining.

2. Said Section is a penal statute, and must be strictly construed, and will be interpreted as being limited only to such classes of employment as come clearly within the terms of the act.

3. If Section 49-3-2 Revised Statutes of Utah, 1933, as amended by Chapter 59, Laws of Utah, 1937, applies to a tunnel such as plaintiffs are driving, the act violates Sec-

tions 1, 3, 7, and 24 of Article one of the constitution of Utah, and the 14th Amendment of the constitution of the United States.

I.

THE LEGISLATIVE ENACTMENT HAS NO APPLICATION TO A TUNNEL SUCH AS THE ONE BEING DRIVEN BY PLAINTIFFS.

The act which plaintiffs are charged with violating, Section 49-3-2 Revised Statutes of Utah, 1933, as amended by Chapter 59, Laws of Utah, 1937, reads as follows:

"49-3-2. A DAY'S WORK—MINES AND SMELTERS. The period of employment of working men in smelters and all other institutions for the reduction or refining of ores or metals, shall be eight hours per day, and the period of employment of working men in all **underground mines or workings** shall be not more than eight hours per day, such eight hour period shall be computed from the time men go underground until they return to the surface, except in cases of emergency where life or property is in imminent danger; provided, however, when underground hoists or pumps are in continuous operation, hoistmen and pumpmen employed on such hoists or pumps may be permitted to be underground not to exceed eight hours and thirty minutes. Any employer who violates any of the provisions of this section is guilty of a misdemeanor."

The Constitution, Article 16, deals with the general subject of labor.

Section six (6) of that Article is as follows:

"Sec. 6. (EIGHT HOURS A DAY'S LABOR ON PUBLIC WORKS.) Eight hours shall constitute a day's work on all works or undertakings carried on or aided by the State, County or Municipal governments; **and the Legislature shall pass laws to provide for the health and safety of employees in factories, smelters and mines."**

The framers of the Constitution gave a mandate to the Legislature to provide for the health and safety of employees in **factories, smelters and mines.**

That mandate is specific; there was no general mandate to the Legislature to pass laws to provide for the health and safety of employees in all underground workings. Underground workings, not connected with mining, were not included in the mandate of the Constitution, any more than was farming or cattle raising.

The first legislature of Utah, in 1896, (Chapter 72, Laws of Utah, 1896, at Page 219) enacted a law entitled, "An act regulating the hours of employment in underground mines, and in smelting and ore reduction works," as follows:

"Section 1. The period of employment of working men in all underground mines or workings shall be eight hours per day, except in cases of emergency where life or property is in imminent danger.

"Section 2. The period of employment of working men in smelters and all other institutions for the reduction or refining of ores or metals shall be eight (8) hours per day, except in cases of emergency where life or property is in imminent danger.

"Section 3. Any person, body corporate, agent, manager or employer, who shall violate any of the provisions of Sections 1 and 2 of this act, shall be deemed guilty of a misdemeanor."

The Supreme Court of the State of Utah, interpreted the above mentioned act in the cases of **State of Utah v. Holden** 14 Utah, 71, 46 Pac. 756 and **State v. Holden** 14 Utah, 96, 46 Pac. 1105.

The first mentioned case was Habeas Corpus. Plaintiff was charged with employing a workman in underground mining more than eight hours per day, in violation of Section 1 of the act.

The second case was appeal. Defendant was charged with employing a workman in his concentrating mill, for the reduction of ores, more than eight hours per day, in violation of Section 2 of the act.

In the first mentioned case, the Court said, at Page 95 of the 14th Utah Reports:

“The section of the statute whose constitutionality is involved in this case includes all employees and employers engaged in working underground mines. None are omitted who may be subject to the peculiar conditions that attend such mining. The provision of the state constitution quoted makes it the duty of the legislature to ‘pass laws to provide for the health and safety of employees in factories, smelters and mines.’ And we are not authorized to hold that the law in question is not calculated and adapted in any degree to promote the health and safety of persons working in mines and smelters. Were we to do so, and declare it void, we would usurp the powers intrusted by the constitution to the lawmaking power.”

In the second mentioned case, the Court said, at Page 98 and 99 of the 14th Utah Reports:

“The people of the state, in their constitution, made it mandatory upon the legislature to ‘pass laws to provide for the health and the safety of the employees in factories, smelters and mines . . .’ The law in question is confined to the protection of that class of people **engaged in labor in underground mines, and in smelters and other works** wherein ores are reduced and refined. This law applies only to the classes subjected by their employment to the peculiar conditions and effects attending underground mining and work in smelters, and other works for the reduction and refining of ores. Therefore, it is not necessary to discuss or decide whether the legislature can fix the hours of labor in other employments.”

We submit that the 1896 statute was enacted in pur-

suance of the constitutional provision, Article 16, Section 6; and had for its purpose, and its sole purpose, the fulfillment of that mandate. That it was intended only to apply to the industries named in the constitution, to-wit, factories, smelters and mines. The Supreme Court of this state, so interpreted the act. At Page 83 of 14th Utah Report, in commenting on the constitutional provision, the Court said:

“The second clause of the Section commands the legislature to pass laws ‘for the health and safety of employees in factories, smelters and mines.’ **This provision must be regarded as an expression of the will of the people of the state with respect to the subjects and objects of legislation named in it; Any law adapted to the preservation of the health or safety of employees in factories, smelters, or mines is within the scope of this provision. The law must be connected with some of the objects named, and calculated to effect that purpose.** If it is not so connected and adapted, the court has the right to hold that it is not within the scope of the provision.”

Appeals were taken from the decisions in the Holden cases heretofore mentioned to the Supreme Court of the United States, and that court, in the case of **Holden v. Hardy**, 169 U. S. 366; 42 L. Ed. 780; 18 Sup. Ct. 383, quoted approvingly from the decisions of the Utah Court, and at Page 389 (18 Sup. Ct. Rep.) used the following language:

“The enactment does not profess to limit the hours of all workmen, but merely those who are employed in underground mines, or in smelting, reduction or refining of ores or metals.”

The first legislative enactment of the eight hour law (Laws 1896) was interpreted by the Supreme Court of this state in October 1896, as applying only to underground

mines, and the Supreme Court of the United States interpreted the law in conformity with the decision of this court.

The legislative department of the State of Utah must be presumed to be familiar with the interpretation placed upon the language "underground mines or workings" by this court.

In Revised Statutes of Utah, 1898, under Title 36, (LABOR), Chapter 2 (EIGHT HOUR LAW) Section 1337 entitled "In Mines and Smelters," reads in part as follows:

"The period of employment of working men in all **underground mines or workings**, and in smelters . . . , shall be eight hours per day"

In Compiled Laws of Utah, 1907, the subject under consideration is found in Title 43 (LABOR), Chapter 2 (EIGHT HOUR LAW), Section 1337, which reads in part as follows:

"(1337.) **IN MINES AND SMELTERS.** The period of employment of working men in all **underground mines or workings**, and in smelters . . . , shall be eight hours per day"

This subject is found in Compiled Laws of Utah, 1917, under Title 58 (LABOR), Chapter 3 (EIGHT HOUR LAW), Section 3667, which reads in part as follows:

"**3667. (1337.) IN MINES AND SMELTERS.** The period of employment of working men in all **underground mines or workings**, and in smelters . . . , shall be eight hours per day"

This subject is again found in Revised Statutes of Utah, 1933, under Title 49 (LABOR), Chapter 3 (EIGHT HOUR LAW), Section 49-3-2, which reads in part as follows:

"49-3-2 Id. **IN MINES AND SMELTERS.** The period of employment of working men in all under-

ground mines or workings, and in smelters , shall be eight hours per day ”

It will be observed, that the Title of Chapter 59, Laws of Utah, 1937, is “Eight Hour Law,” and the caption of the amended Section is “A DAY’S WORK — MINES AND SMELTERS.”

It is significant that in every statute regulating hours of labor, from the enactment in 1896 to that in 1937, that the words “underground mines or workings” appear identical in each enactment.

No clarifying amendment has been made by the legislature to extend the meaning of the term. Nor has there been one change in the language used, indicating that the legislature intended it to apply to any underground workings not connected with mining.

There is a strong presumption, that the legislative department must have concurred in the interpretation placed upon the statute by the judicial department, otherwise, over the intervening period of 43 years, that department would have made clear its intention to apply the eight hour law to underground workings not connected with mining.

It would have been simple indeed, had the legislature desired to enlarge the scope of the law as enacted in 1896 to have used appropriate language for that purpose.

Had the legislature intended to make the law applicable to other underground workings it would not have repeated the identical language which the court had theretofore interpreted as applicable only to mines.

The meaning and application of the statute in question must be considered in light of the judicial construction placed upon the words “underground mines or workings.”

This rule of construction is stated in 59 C. J. Sec. 613 in the following language:

“When a statute has been construed by the highest court having jurisdiction to pass on it, such construction is as much a part of the statute as if plainly written into it originally . . . ; and when **words have a well-settled meaning, through judicial construction** they must be understood, when used in a statute, to have that meaning, unless a different meaning is unmistakably indicated”

In a footnote to the above quotation in 59 C. J., the case of **Plaster & M. F. G. Company v. Juab County**, 33 Utah 114, 93 Pac. 53 is cited. This court, at Page 119 of the Utah Report said:

“ . . . In view that the decisions of courts are but the reflection of the common understanding with respect to particular things and the terms used in any industry, business or calling, and are thus simply reduced to legal terms, we think that if the courts have construed and applied what is meant by the terms ‘mine’ and ‘mines,’ then this meaning must control, and especially so when the term is used in some **statute or constitution**. This must be so for the simple reason that the term will then have acquired a legal meaning, which, unless the contrary clearly appears from the context, must be deemed to be the meaning intended to be applied to it in the law in which it is found.”

The term “underground mines or workings” was declared by this court in the Holden cases to apply only to underground mines. The re-enactment by the legislature with the identical words as interpreted by the court must be construed to apply only to mines.

The 1896 law was re-enacted in Revised Statutes 1898, as Section 1337. And this court in the case of **Short v. Mining Co.** 20 Utah, 20, after quoting Section 6 of Article 16 of the Constitution of Utah said, at Pages 26 and 27:

“The act in question was enacted as a police regulation, and for the public good in the interest of public policy. The experience in the past few years in the **business of mining and smelting and underground workings of mines** shows that such business can no longer be carried on with due regard to the safety and health of those miners engaged in such business without special protection and restraint against the danger necessarily incident to such employment.... The employment of operatives when too long pursued, in smelters and underground mines is **considered by the legislature** as detrimental to the health of the employees.... It was therefore considered that the employment of men **in smelters and underground mines**, for a period of more than eight hours per day, was detrimental to the health of such persons.”

Again, in the Short case, this court construed the language “underground mines or workings” as applying only to underground mines. And again and again since that decision the legislature continued to use the same language in re-enacting the eight hour law.

If the statute in question is ambiguous reference to the title, chapter and section headings of every revision since the act of 1896, will disclose that the legislature was regulating the hours of **Labor in Mines and Smelters**.

In Vol. 25 R. C. L. Sec. 267 at Page 1031 the author says:

“It is, however, now the generally accepted view both in England and in this country that the title of an act is so far a part of the same that it may be resorted to where the meaning of the act is ambiguous, for the purpose of ascertaining the true meaning. As said by Chief Justice Marshall in an early case: ‘Where the mind labors to discover the design of the legislature, it seizes everything from which aid can be derived; and in such case the title claims a degree of notice and will have its due share of consideration.’ ”

The word "workings" used in the act appears to have been given no technical meaning by the legislature, and its association with the other words of the act "underground mines or workings," considered with the title of the section, clearly indicates that such word has reference only to mines.

In Words and Phrases, 1st series, Vol. 8, Page 7522 appears the following:

"The term 'workings,' as used in the act relating to mines and mining, includes all the excavated parts of a mine, those abandoned as well as the places actually worked." P. & L. Dig. Laws Pa. 1894, Vol. 2, Col. 3110.

Technical words relating to an art, science or trade when used in a statute dealing with the subject matter of such art, science or trade, are ordinarily to be taken in their technical sense, and will be so construed, unless the context or other considerations show a contrary intent.

Lewis Sutherland Statutory Construction, 2nd Ed.
Sec. 393.

When general words follow particular words, the latter are given the meaning of the former.

Lewis Sutherland Statutory Construction, 2nd Ed.
Sec. 424.

The application of the statute in question, to every case in which work is, or may be carried on under ground would reduce the act to an absurdity. Every sewer constructed by a sewer district would technically place workmen under ground. Even a man engaged in digging a well would be engaged in an underground working used in the broad non-technical sense, and if employed for that purpose, would be subject to this law. Excavations for basements and ex-

cavations in connection with the construction of dams, under an interpretation of the act as contended for by defendants, may well be termed underground workings.

The Supreme Court of Nevada interpreted the Nevada eight hour law which provided:

“The period of employment of working men in all underground mines or workings shall be eight hours per day.”

In the case of **Ex parte Boyce**, 27 Nev. 299, 75 Pac 1, after expressly approving the Holden cases and quoting at length from them, the court used this language:

“ The language forbids any person from working in underground mines, smelters or mills for the reduction of ores more than eight hours per day We may consider the protection of the health and lives of that large portion of the people in this state who delve in the earth in search of the precious metals that help enrich the commerce of the world, and who there and in the smelters and ore reduction works come in contact with poisonous minerals, and breathe dust, foul air, and obnoxious fumes and gases. In this connection it should be remembered that the statute applies to underground mines, and not to placer claims, or to men working in the open above the surface.”

II.

CHAPTER 59, LAWS OF UTAH, 1937, IS A PENAL STATUTE AND MUST BE STRICTLY CONSTRUED.

The Utah eight hour law being penal, will be interpreted as applying only to such classes of employment as come clearly within the terms of the act.

Strictly construed, the act in question applies only to underground workings connected with mines. In the case of **Ex parte Twing**, Cal. 204 Pac. 1083, the court said:

"But penal statutes must be construed to reach no further than their words; no person can be made subject to them by implication....Haxfield v. United States, 197 U. S. 442, 49 L. Ed. 826."

A statute somewhat similar to the one in question was construed by the Missouri court in the case of **State v. Cantwell**, 78 S. W. 569. That court said:

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