1940

George K. Thompson and Frank S. Markhap,
Thompson-Markham Company v. Industrial
Commission of Utah, William M. Knerr, O. F.
McShane, Frank A. Jugler, E. A. Hodges : Brief of
Defendants

Utah Supreme Court

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

In discussing this matter we shall refer to the plain-
tiffs as the Contractors, and to the defendants as the
Commission.

The Contractors have an agreement with the U. S.

Government to drive a tunnel through a mountain located about twenty miles south of Salt Lake City. When completed, this tunnel will be approximately three miles long, and will be used to convey irrigation waters from the Provo River to the Salt Lake valley. This controversy was brought on because of the fact that the Contractors insist on keeping their employees under ground more than eight hours. The Commission advised them that this was contrary to law, and threatened to take legal proceedings unless they desisted. The Contractors then made application to this court, and secured a temporary Writ of Prohibition. The Commission filed a general Demurrer and also an Answer to the Petition, all of which are set out in the Contractors' Brief which has been filed with this Court.

The law which the Commission claims the Contractors have violated is Chapter 59, Laws of Utah, 1937, and which, insofar as material here, reads as follows:

“The period of employment of working men in all underground mines or workings shall be not more than eight hours per day, such eight hour period shall be computed from the time men go under ground until they return to the surface, except in cases of emergency where life or property is in imminent danger; provided, however, when under ground hoists or pumps are in continuous operation, hoistmen and pumpmen employed on such hoists or pumps may be permitted to be underground not to exceed eight hours and thirty minutes. Any employer who violates any of the provisions of this section is guilty of a misdemeanor.”

The law relating to this subject was first enacted by the Legislature of 1896, shortly after the adoption of our State Constitution. Section 6 of Article XVI of the Constitution provides :

“The Legislature shall pass laws to provide for the health and safety of employees in factories, smelters and mines.”

In their brief the Contractors contend that the eight hour law passed in 1896 was to carry out the mandate of the constitutional provision above quoted. Undoubtedly, this constitutional provision caused the initiation of the legislation, but the legislaion of 1896 apparently restricted and enlarged upon the constitutional mandate. For instance, the Constitution directed that the legislation should provide for the health and safety of employes in “mines.” The legislation was restricted to “underground mines.” The constitutional provision was enlarged upon by extending the legislation to underground mines or underground workings.

In their brief the Contractors trace the history of this legislation back to its origin for the purpose of showing that it was the intention from the beginning that the law should apply only to mines and not to other underground workings. They refer to the titles of the various acts in the various compilations as “A DAY’S WORK—MINES AND SMELTERS.” A reference to these acts, however, will reveal that “mines and smelters” was not the title of the act, but was inserted in the law either by the engross-

ing clerks or by the printer. The title of the act under consideration reads as follows:

“AN ACT AMENDING SECTION 49-3-2, REVISED STATUTES OF UTAH, 1933, RELATING TO THE PERIOD OF EMPLOYMENT OF WORKING MEN IN UNDERGROUND MINES OR WORKINGS, AND IN SMELTERS AND IN ALL OTHER INSTITUTIONS FOR THE REDUCTION OR REFINING OF ORES OR METALS, PROVIDING THAT THE PERIOD OF EMPLOYMENT FOR UNDERGROUND MINES OR WORKINGS SHALL BE EIGHT HOURS PER DAY.”

The principal question to be solved in this matter is what did the Legislature intend by the use of the words “or works.”

We all agree that the Legislature intended “or underground works.” The Contractors say that the intention was that the “underground works” was intended to mean the underground works in connection with an underground mine. We say that the Legislature, by the use of the words “or underground works,” referred to similar underground works other than those found in mines. If the Legislature intended that this act should apply to mines only, then there was no occasion for inserting in the act “or underground works.” If they had used the words “The period of employment of working men in all underground mines shall be not more than eight hours per day,” no one would contend that it did not apply to every man working under ground in every mine. The word “mine” includes every tunnel, shaft, raise, drift,

and every other portion of the mine. One is just as much a part of the mine as the other, so that the legislators had something in mind when they inserted the words "or underground works". They realized that in this mountainous country many tunnels are being driven which do not have for their object the development of a mine. We refer, for instance to railroad tunnels, water tunnels, transportation tunnels. They knew that the same methods were used in the driving of these tunnels as are used in the driving of tunnels in search of minerals, and they knew that they were driven by miners, and that one was just as injurious to the health of these miners as the other. The statute should, therefore, be construed as though it read: "The period of employment of working men in all underground mines or other ground workings of a similar character shall be not more than eight hours per day."

The Contractors refer to the cases of the State of Utah vs. Holden, 14 Utah 71, and State vs. Holden, 14 Utah 96, and they claim that this court by these decisions has determined that the law under consideration refers only to mines.

In one of these cases an employer was convicted of working his employee more than eight hours per day in a mine, and in the other more than eight hours per day in a smelter. The court had under consideration the sole question as to whether or not the Legislature may limit the hours of employment in underground mines and smelters. In both cases it was definitely decided that the Legisla-

ture had such right, and that the act was a valid exercise of legislative authority. There was no question as to whether or not the act applied to underground works other than mines, and this court, in either case, did not mention the subject. True, in the course of the long opinions, statements were made to the effect that the act applied to employees in mines. It is such statements as these that the Contractors have selected from these decisions and cite them as holding that this court had already determined the issues involved in this action.

These cases were appealed to the Supreme Court of the United States and upheld by that court in *re: Holden vs. Hardy*, 169 U. S. 366. As stated above, all of these decisions hold that the Legislature may lawfully regulate the hours of labor, but they do not mention or even intimate what their ruling would be on the questions involved in the instant case.

Notwithstanding the fact that Utah and some of the other states have acts similar to the one under consideration, I have been unable to find any case deciding the point raised in these proceedings. Numerous tunnels have been driven in the mountains for purposes other than mining, and yet the question is raised in this court for the first time. It is reasonable to suppose that the persons who made these tunnels felt that they were amenable to the eight hour law and complied with the same, otherwise it would seem that the matter, long ago, would have been brought before the courts.

We submit, therefore, that the Utah cases above cited,

are authority only to the effect that the Legislature may enact laws of this kind. The same is true of the case of *Short vs. Mining Co.*, 20 Utah 20, cited by the Contractors. The question under consideration in this matter was not before the court nor considered by the court.

In their brief the Contractors next contend that this eight hour law is a penal statute, and being such it must be strictly construed. Then they cite cases from other courts which hold that penal statutes must be strictly construed.

In answer to this contention, however, we refer the court to Section 103-1-2 of the penal code of our Revised Statutes, which reads as follows:

“The rule of the common law that penal statutes are to be strictly construed has no application to these revised statutes. The provisions of these revised statutes are to be construed according to the fair import of their terms with a view to effect the objects of the statutes and to promote justice.”

This appears to be a complete answer to the theory advanced by the Contractors that penal statutes must be strictly construed.

The Contractors next refer to the Missouri case of *State vs. Cantwell*, 78 S. W. 569. In this case the court was construing an eight hour law which definitely provided that it should relate only to tunnels, etc., being driven for the purpose of developing minerals. The defendant, as one of his defenses, claimed that it was an unlawful classification in that it protected miners in driving tun-

nels for mineral purposes, but did not protect miners who drive tunnels for other purposes.

To get around this objection the Supreme Court of Missouri said that railroad tunnels, water tunnels, etc., are only of temporary duration, while tunnels being driven to encounter mineral are permanent in their nature, and hence there was no unlawful classification.

The Supreme Court of Missouri and the Contractors overlook a vital point. They forget that all of these tunnels, mines, etc., are driven by men who make their livelihood by working beneath the surface of the earth; that when they complete one job, they go to another of the same or a similar kind. These tunnels are not constructed, for instance, by a group of farmers who go back to the farm when the work is completed. There is no reason why a miner in a water tunnel should not receive the same protection as a miner working in any other kind of tunnel.

The Legislature of Missouri in the enactment of this act must have felt that it would be construed to include all classes of tunnels unless it prescribed that it should apply only to tunnels being driven for mineral purposes, and hence it made the classification above mentioned. The Missouri case, however, is definite authority to the effect that the Legislature may limit the hours of employment in underground mines.

The Contractors also refer in their brief to a California case and a Wyoming case, but we cannot see that either of these cases has any bearing whatever on the question under consideration.

The Contractors next contend that if it should be decreed that the tunnel which they are driving comes within the purview of the eight hour law, then such law is unconstitutional for the reason that the Legislature is without power to limit the hours of labor in such a tunnel. They cite the various sections of our State Constitution and the Constitution of the United States relating to due process, the right to contract, etc., and they attempt to show there is no necessity for granting protection to miners engaged in the driving of such a tunnel, and they say that the Legislature in the enactment of the law did not make a finding to the effect that such labor is injurious to health of such miners.

This same objection has been raised in nearly every case where the subject has been under consideration. It has been repudiated by this court in the Holden case, *supra*, and in the recent case of McGrew, et al, vs. Industrial Com., 96 Utah 203. It has also been repudiated in a recent decision by the Supreme Court of the U. S. in re: West Coast Hotel Co., vs. Parrish, 300 U. S. 379, wherein Chief Justice Hughes used the following words:

“Times without number we have said that the legislature is primarily the judge of the necessity of such an enactment, that every possible presumption is in favor of its validity, and that though the court may hold views inconsistent with the wisdom of the law, it may not be annulled unless palpably in excess of legislative power.”

And then again on page 399 of the Parrish case, the court says:

“The adoption of similar requirements by

many States evidences a deepseated conviction both as to the presence of the evil and as to the means adapted to check it. Legislative response to that conviction cannot be regarded as arbitrary or capricious, and that is all we have to decide. Even if the wisdom of the policy be regarded as debatable and its effects uncertain, still the legislature is entitled to its judgment."

This court in the case of *State vs. Packer*, 297 Pac. 1013, used the following language:

"Where an act has a real and substantial relation to the police power, then no matter how unreasonable nor how unwise the measure itself may be, it is not for the judicial tribunals to avoid or vacate it upon constitutional grounds, nor will the courts assume to determine whether the measures are wise, or the best that might have been adopted; or whether such laws are invalid on the ground of inexpediency, or whether they bear any real or substantial relation to the public welfare."

And again this court in the case of *Ashton-Jenkins Co. vs. Bramel*, 56 Utah 587, used the following words:

"Besides this, since when did the courts of this country become possessed of the power to determine the necessity of a statute or want of necessity in any particular case, and make that the controlling factor in determining whether or not the statute was unconstitutional? Such power does not belong to the courts. It is forbidden ground, upon which they dare not tread. The proposition is elementary."

This Court in the recent case of *McGrew vs. Industrial Com.*, 96 Utah 203, 85 Pac. 2nd 608, had under consideration the question of the right of the Legislature to

fix a minimum wage for women and miners. In upholding that right the court said:

“That the State may impose limitations and regulations on the right to contract has never been questioned but the question as to how far the State may go has been raised often. Many laws restricting this right have been upheld. The one most commonly called to mind is the Usury Law which prohibits contracts by which a man may receive more than a specified rate of interest for the money he lends. Many Sunday laws prohibit all contracts made on Sunday, one seventh of our natural life. Insurance rates and policy terms are regulated. Telephone charges, railroad rates, power, light, and gas rates are not only controlled and limited but prescribed and fixed by law.”

The Contractors lay great stress on the case of *In re Morgan* (Col.), 58 Pac. 1071, wherein the Colorado Supreme Court held a law unconstitutional which prescribed that eight hours should constitute a days labor in mines and smelters. This decision seems to stand alone.

We call the court's attention to 16 R. C. L. at page 487, wherein the author refers to the Colorado case above mentioned, and says:

“In a number of states wherein mining is carried on extensively there are statutes prohibiting the employment of workmen for more than eight hours per day in underground mines or workings or smelters or in institutions for the reduction or refining of ores or metals, except in cases of emergency where life or property is in imminent danger. Apparently but a single court has declared such a statute to be invalid, because the court entertained the extreme view that in a pri-

vate business attended with no injury to the public the legislature cannot prohibit an adult male from working more than eight hours per day on the ground that longer hours may or probably will injure his own health. As might have been expected, the effect of this decision was promptly obviated by a constitutional amendment directing the legislature to provide for an eight hour day in mines or underground workings, blast furnaces, smelters and ore reduction works, or other branches of industry or labor, that the legislature may consider injurious or dangerous to health, life or limb. Moreover, independently of express constitutional authority, the validity of statutes containing identical or similar provisions has been upheld by the federal supreme court and by all the state courts which had occasion to pass thereon."

The Contractors say that if the legislative act under consideration applies to the driving of a fifteen thousand foot tunnel, then it would apply to excavations for a house, a well, or a sewer trench. We are only concerned in this matter as to whether or not it applies to the tunnel in question, but we feel that it is no more applicable to the excavation for a house, or open sewer, or an ordinary well, any more than it would apply to an open-cut in a quarry, or the large open-cuts being made by the Utah Copper Company.

It is fundamental law that legislative acts are construed in accordance with the intention of the legislators. The courts often supply words in order to express the legislative intent, or they may strike out words in order to arrive at the legislative intent. In the case of *Dunn vs. Bryan*, 77 Utah 604, this court quotes with approval the following:

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